RECEIVED

SEP 29 2017

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

JOHN WAYNE BRANNON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000770

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Did the PCR court err in not finding trial counsel ineffective for not conducting a thorough investigation, or having an investigator pursue a thorough investigation, into Petitioner Brannon's case in order to introduce evidence of Petitioner's defense of self-defense as he was facing LWOP?

2.

Did the PCR court err in not finding trial counsel ineffective for not presenting an expert, or at least consulting an expert, in order to dispute the diagnosis by the emergency room physician of a traumatic head injury of the victim which he said could be deadly when the victim remained in the hospital only two hours and was released with several sutures?

STATEMENT

Petitioner John Brannon and Ronnie Brannon, the victim, were first cousins. Petitioner Brannon had lived with his uncle, Ronnie's father, until the uncle died in January 2011. App. 100, ll. 1 – App. 101, ll. 5. According to Ronnie, Petitioner asked him if he could stay at the house with Ronnie until he could find a place. Ronnie agreed to a few days. App. 101, ll. 4 – 14. By April 10, 2011, Petitioner Brannon was still living with Ronnie in the father's house. On April 9, 2011, Petitioner and Ronnie and some neighbors sat around having a few drinks. Ronnie admitted that he was drunk that night as he said he was an "alcoholic." App. 103, ll. 6 – App. 104, ll. 22.

The next morning, they started drinking what was left from the night before. The two of them got into an argument over Petitioner still living there. Ronnie told Petitioner to leave and find somewhere to live. Ronnie's story was that Petitioner left and returned a few minutes later with a brick. Allegedly Petitioner hit Ronnie in his head and Ronnie fell backwards. His head was bleeding so he found a shirt and wrapped around his head. He just lay on the floor. App. 106, ll. 1 – App. 109, ll. 11.

Later that morning, Ronnie's friend, Scott Cheeks, stopped by to check on Ronnie as he frequently did. He found Ronnie walking down the hall towards Cheeks and had something wrapped around his head. When Cheeks saw Ronnie bleeding, he called 911 but finally took Ronnie to the emergency room himself. App. 46, ll. 6 – App. 50, ll. 25.

Dr. Bradley Davis was the emergency room doctor who treated Ronnie. He found that Ronnie had two lacerations: one at the front of his head that pulled the skin down, and one at the back of his head where there was very little "subcutaneous tissue." His diagnosis was "traumatic head injury and multiple scalp lacerations." App. 78, ll. 21 – App. 82, ll. 4. The front laceration

required nine stitches, and the posterior laceration required six stitches. App. 88, ll. 21 – App. 89, ll. 1; App. 178, ll. 14 – 23.

Dr. Davis reported that Ronnie was intoxicated and could not provide a reliable medical history of symptoms. Therefore, he performed a CT scan of Ronnie’s brain to determine if there was any skull fracture or injury or any injury to the brain or any bleeding in the brain. App. 82, ll. 7 – App. 83, ll. 23. The CT scan showed no skull fracture nor brain injuries. Ronnie arrived at the hospital about 12:11 PM and was discharged about 2:25 PM. He stayed at the hospital only about two hours and was released. App. 88, ll. 1 – 23.

Officer Brendall Mathis went to the hospital and talked with Ronnie about the incident. Ronnie told him that Ronnie’s cousin, John Brannon, hit him over the head with something big. The officer talked with Ronnie again two days later, and Ronnie told him the same thing. App. 69, ll. 1 – 24. Officer Mathis searched Ronnie’s home and found a rock under a table next to the front door. He believed that was the rock used to hit Ronnie Brannon. He estimated that the rock weighed between ten and fifteen pounds. App. 64, ll. 1 – App. 65, ll. 18.

Officer Mathis signed a warrant on Petitioner Brannon. App. 70, ll. 1 – 9. On July 22, 2011, the Spartanburg County grand Jury indicted Petitioner Brannon on the charge of attempted murder. App. 333 – App. 334.

On December 12, 13 and 15, 2011, Petitioner Brannon proceeded to trial before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury. Petitioner was represented by Tanya Jones, and the state was represented by Wes Boyd. App. 1.

During the trial, the solicitor asked Dr. Davis, the emergency room doctor who treated Ronnie Brannon, if head traumas were ever considered deadly. The doctor said: “Absolutely.” App. 85, ll. 20 – 25. During his closing argument to the jury, the solicitor argued that this was a

case of attempted murder because the doctor had testified that head traumas can be deadly. He continued that luckily nothing was shown on the CT scan. App. 182, ll. 2 – 17.

Petitioner Brannon did not testify at his trial. Defense counsel did not present any witnesses nor any evidence. App. 159, ll. 2 – App. 160, ll. 19.

The judge charged the jury on attempted murder; assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) at the request of the state; and assault and battery second degree at the request of the defense. The state requested ABHAN only after the judge granted defense counsel's request for assault and battery second degree. App.162, ll. 15; App. 168, ll. 2 – 23; App.203, ll. 4 – 15; App. 208, ll. 7 – 25. The jury sent a note to the judge during deliberations. Their question was: "Please explain the difference between assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and assault and battery in the second degree." The judge repeated his jury charge on the two offenses as requested. App. 214, ll. 10 – App. 216, ll. 7.

The jury found Petitioner Brannon guilty of the lesser included charge of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. App. 217, ll. 17 – 25. Because the state had served Petitioner Brannon with notice that they would seek life without parole (LWOP), the solicitor informed the judge that ABHAN was a serious offense. The solicitor told the court that they had presented notice of three prior convictions "out of an abundance of caution." App. 220, ll. 13 – App. 224, ll. 3. The judge sentenced Petitioner Brannon to LWOP. App. 229, ll. 8 – 14.

Petitioner Brannon filed a notice of appeal which was perfected by the filing of a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). The Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal on October 2, 2013. State v. Brannon, Op. No. 2013-UP-362 (Ct. App. filed October 2, 2013). App. 319.

On December 5, 2013, Petitioner Brannon filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). The state filed a return on August 18, 2014. An evidentiary hearing was held on June 17, 2016 before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. Petitioner Brannon was represented by J. Brandt Rucker, and the state was represented by Alicia Olive. App. 250.

Petitioner Brannon testified at his PCR hearing that he told his trial attorney that he had a self-defense argument because his cousin, Ronnie, had a dagger, and came after him. He wanted her to present the dagger in court but his attorney said that they did not need the dagger. App. 258, ll. 5 – 25. At the PCR hearing, Petitioner told about the incident. He said that the victim his cousin Ronnie, had drawn the dagger on Petitioner on four or five occasions. Finally Petitioner took the dagger and hid it. Ronnie kept asking for the dagger so Petitioner finally agreed to give it to him if Ronnie promised he would not draw it on Petitioner again which Ronnie did. Petitioner returned the dagger to Ronnie. App. 261, ll. 9 – App. 262, ll. 7.

Two weeks later when this incident occurred, they were drinking. Ronnie retrieved his dagger again and pointed it at Petitioner. As Petitioner got up from the sofa and started around it to leave, Ronnie got in the way to keep him from leaving. Petitioner then picked up an aluminum chair and hit Ronnie in the head one time. Petitioner took the dagger and left. He went to his sister's house and left the dagger there. App. 262, ll. 8 – App. 263, ll. 21; App. 259, ll. 6 – 11.

The police came on his job about a month later and arrested him. App. 263, ll. 22 – 25. Petitioner declared that the rock was not involved. App. 264, ll. 12 – 25.

Petitioner Brannon testified that his trial attorney was ineffective because she failed to thoroughly investigate his case including the self-defense issue. She did not ask Ronnie about

the dagger nor the chair at trial. If his attorney had introduced the dagger, Petitioner believed that his chances of winning at trial would have improved. App. 265, ll. 1 – App. 267, ll. 25.

Petitioner also testified that his attorney could have obtained an expert to explain that the victim's injuries were not life threatening. He explained that the victim, Ronnie, was released from the hospital within two hours drinking liquor again. If his injuries were life-threatening the hospital would have kept him overnight. There was no fractured skull, no bleeding under the skull; no fractured bone. App. 268, ll. 1 – 25. Petitioner Brannon also said his trial attorney was ineffective for asking for a lesser included charge because that opened the door. It gave “them the option to seek a verdict elsewhere.” App. 267, ll. 4 – 23.

Petitioner's trial attorney, Ms. Tanya Jones, testified via telephone as she was then living in Oklahoma City. App. 253, ll. 2 – 15. She admitted that Petitioner Brannon told her that the victim had pointed a dagger at him while they had been drinking. Petitioner told her that he hit the victim, Ronnie, with a chair although the state said it was a brick. However, she stated that no blood was recovered from the scene. She claimed there was a minor inconsistency in Petitioner's story where he first said there was a fight, a dagger, and then he hit Ronnie with the chair. Then Petitioner told her that he hit Ronnie with the chair and then took the dagger. That was the reason she was concerned about putting him on the stand. App. 280, ll. 1 – 24.

Ms. Jones indicated there was a plea offer to ABHAN for zero to twenty years but Petitioner rejected that offer. App. 280, ll. 18 – App. 281, ll. 7. She tried to get the prosecutor to allow Petitioner to plead to attempted murder and remove LWOP from the table. However, she said the prosecutor was “gung-ho” about this case for some reason. She was “shocked” by that “behavior” from the prosecutor because she had never experienced that. Usually the prosecutors

were willing to negotiate “up to trial.” She felt that attempted murder was “overkill” or an “overcharge” in this case. App. 281, ll. 15 – App. 283, ll. 19.

She described the possible defense of self-defense; however, Petitioner would have to take the stand. His prior charges could then come in. She said the other option for self-defense was to confront the victim, Ronnie, about having the dagger. However, since she did not know what he would say as she had not talked with him prior to trial, she “got bad vibes” and “just decided not to do that” although she had the dagger at trial. App. 284, ll. 2 – App. 285, ll. 6.

She explained that she had tried to locate the victim prior to trial but could not find him. The state found him and she tried to talk to him just before trial but he refused to talk with her. App. 282, ll. 24 – App. 283, ll. 4. Counsel admitted that if she could have found the victim and talked with him before trial, they may have been able to avoid a LWOP sentence. She said: “I mean, I feel really bad about it.” Self-defense was her trial strategy. App. 286, ll. 7 – 25. However, during trial, she started to “shift” and “go for” the strategy that the victim did not remember anything so “how can we convict on this?” App. 290, ll. 1 – 23.

When asked what kind of investigation she did, trial counsel responded that she “went over all of the police reports; all of the pictures; went to the crime scene; spoke with Petitioner’s mother who had the dagger; and tried to track down the victim, Ronnie Brannon.” App. 285, ll. 7 – 25. She did not know what happened to the chair although there were pictures of the chair. The house was eventually condemned so she had no idea what happened to the chair. App. 289, ll. 10 – 25. She did not use the pictures of the chair to ask the victim if a chair was involved in the altercation. She said: “I don’t believe that I ever put the chair theory out there.” She admitted that she did not have enough evidence to request a self-defense charge. The state did not introduce DNA nor blood evidence that connected Petitioner to the crime. App. 290, ll. 1 –

23. When questioned on cross-examination about why she did not ask the victim about the dagger, she said since she had not talked with him, she did not know what he would say. She said she “got cold feet.” App. 292, ll. 1 – 14.

When questioned about her conversation with Petitioner’s mother, trial counsel admitted that she did not ask his mother the history of the dagger nor when he brought it over; nor his demeanor then; if he was intoxicated; or if petitioner told her what happened. App. 292, ll. 15 – App. 293, ll. 19. She admitted that she never thought about calling Petitioner’s mother as a witness. App. 314, ll. 21 – 24.

Ms. Jones testified that she told Petitioner that it “was not in his best interest to testify.” But she said it was the “only way to get in the self-defense claim.” App. 294, ll. 21 – 24. On cross-examination trial counsel admitted that she did not talk to the emergency room doctor, Dr. Davis, before the trial. She did not ask him about the chair because she said that doctors can’t speculate about what caused the injury. She did not confer with any other expert to compare their view of the victim’s injuries. App. 302, ll. 1 – App. 303, ll. 23.

Trial counsel stated near the end of her testimony:

Again I just don’t know why the D.A. was being so unreasonable in this particular case because it really didn’t deserve LWOP.

App. 314, ll. 18-20.

The PCR judge filed an order on February 28, 2017 denying Petitioner Brannon’s PCR application and dismissing it with prejudice. App. 318 – App. 330. The judge wrote that as a matter of general impression, the court found Petitioner Brannon’s testimony to be not credible. App. 319.

The PCR judge found that trial counsel’s investigation was reasonable and proper as she “adequately conferred with Petitioner, and was competent in her representation.” App. 323. The

judge wrote that Petitioner Brannon failed to prove that trial counsel did not conduct a proper investigation. The order provided that Petitioner failed to show any prejudice to him because he did not present any evidence at the PCR hearing as to what evidence further investigation would have uncovered. App. 323.

The PCR court's order also provided that the emergency room doctor's testimony that the victim was intoxicated and a "poor medical historian" was consistent with counsel's trial strategy of discrediting the victim. App. 324. The PCR judge also wrote that Petitioner presented no evidence at the PCR hearing as to what an expert witness would have presented to contribute to the trial. The judge found that Petitioner did not prove "deficiency nor prejudice" regarding his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not calling an expert witness. App. 325.

Petitioner Brannon filed a notice of appeal. This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR court erred in not finding trial counsel ineffective for not conducting a thorough investigation, or having an investigator pursue a thorough investigation, into Petitioner Brannon's case in order to introduce evidence of Petitioner's defense of self-defense as he was facing LWOP.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997).

Failure to investigate possible defenses constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. Cobbs v. State, 305 S.C. 299, 408 S.E.2d 223 (1991). In Ard v. Cato, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590 (2007), the Supreme Court found that trial counsel was ineffective and that defendant was prejudiced by counsel's ineffectiveness. The Court held that a criminal defense attorney has a

duty to investigate but this was limited to a reasonable investigation. The Court continued to hold that for the purposes of the claim of ineffective assistance, while the scope of a reasonable investigation depended upon a number of issues, at a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.

Trial counsel was ineffective because she did not interview the significant witnesses which could have made a difference. She did not find the victim but the state found him. There was no evidence that she used an investigator to search for the victim as an investigator would likely have had more time and likely would have known how to locate a person. Not being able to talk with the victim was the reason trial counsel said she did not introduce the dagger which very likely would have affected the result of the case. The jury had a question about the charges and did find Petitioner guilty of a lesser included. If counsel had introduced evidence of self-defense which included the dagger and the chair, there would have been a reasonable probability the judge would have given the self-defense charge. Therefore, Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel not talking with the victim.

It would be pointless to call the victim as a witness to the PCR hearing because he was not likely to admit to any wrongdoing or change his story from his trial testimony.

Trial counsel was ineffective for not talking to Petitioner's mother with more in-depth questions about the case. Counsel admitted that she did not think of calling the mother who could have corroborated Petitioner's story that there was a dagger as the mother had the dagger.

Trial counsel was ineffective for not talking to the emergency room doctor, Dr. Davis. Dr. Davis did not directly testify that victim's head injury was deadly as he was asked the question in general terms. Trial counsel only speculated that Dr. Davis could not tell her if a

chair or what could have caused victim's injuries. She should have asked the question because Petitioner was facing life in prison. She would likely have had more evidence to dispute the attempted murder charge as she stated she believed that was an over charge or "overkill."

Petitioner Brannon was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to conduct a more thorough investigation. Based on her description of the investigation she conducted, she did the least that she had to do for a trial which was not sufficient in Petitioner Brannon's case because he was facing life incarceration.

ARGUMENT

2.

The PCR court erred in not finding trial counsel ineffective for not presenting an expert, or at least consulting an expert, in order to dispute the diagnosis by the emergency room physician of a traumatic head injury of the victim which the doctor said could be deadly when the victim remained in the hospital only two hours and was released with several sutures.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997).