STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000770

JOHN WAYNE BRANNON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

VALERIE GARCIA GIOVANOLI
Assistant Attorney General
Bar No. 102524

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 05 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. In July 2011, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for attempted murder (2011-GS-42-4694). Public Defender Tanya Jones, Esquire, represented Applicant. On December 13-15, 2011, Petitioner was tried before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury. The jury found Petitioner guilty of the lesser-included-offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. Judge Couch sentenced Petitioner to life without parole pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45.

A timely Notice of Appeal and Anders¹ brief were filed on Petitioner's behalf. Petitioner also filed a *pro se* brief. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Brannon, Op. No. 2013-UP-362 (Ct. App. filed October 2, 2013). The Remittitur was returned on November 5, 2013.

On December 5, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief alleging his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly investigate or hire an investigator or expert. Respondent made its return on or about August 18, 2014, requesting an evidentiary hearing be convened. On June 17, 2016, an evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened at the Spartanburg County Courthouse before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. Petitioner was present and represented by J. Brandt Rucker, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Alicia A. Olive, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. Judge Cothran denied and dismissed the PCR application by order dated February 22, 2017 and filed February 28, 2017. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. On September 29, 2017, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari. This return follows.

¹ 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for reviewing a PCR court's ruling is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in the application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668; Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, . First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. "Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). An applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been **different**." Id. at 117-18 (emphasis added). "A reasonable

probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Patrick v. State, 349 S.C. 203, 207, 562 S.E.2d 609, 611 (2002). “It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693.

ARGUMENT

I. There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding that Counsel's investigation and decision not to hire or present an expert witness was reasonable and Petitioner failed to prove he was prejudiced by any alleged failures.

There is ample, probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's findings. First, Petitioner argues Counsel did not interview the significant witnesses which could have made a difference. (PWC p. 11). One of those witnesses was the victim. Petitioner claims Counsel could not locate the victim, but the State could. (PWC p. 11). However, Petitioner fails to mention the State, too, had problems locating the victim. (App. p. 282, ll. 24-25). Petitioner further argues there was no evidence Counsel used an investigator because an investigator would have been able to locate the victim. (PWC p. 11). Counsel, a public defender at the time, testified during the PCR hearing that "we also tried to locate him." (App. 283, l. 1) (emphasis added). Although there was no evidence presented that Counsel used an investigator, there was no evidence offered by Petitioner, who has the burden of proof in a PCR action, that Counsel did not use an investigator. Regardless, Counsel testified she had an opportunity to speak with the victim prior to trial, but he refused to speak with her. (App. p. 283, ll. 2-4). Therefore, the record supports the PCR finding of reasonableness in Counsel's attempts to interview the victim.

Additionally, Petitioner failed to establish the requisite prejudice for relief. "Failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to result." Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 385-86, 629 S.E.2d 353, 357 (2006) (citing Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998)). Petitioner's argument that had Counsel located and interviewed the victim earlier, the result of the trial, or even the interview of the victim, would have been different is

based on mere speculation. Petitioner presented no evidence to show prejudice as a result of Counsel's inability to locate and interview the victim prior to trial.

Counsel testified Petitioner's version of events had inconsistencies, which was concerning to her. (App. p. 280, ll. 5-16). She testified in detail regarding the dagger and her reasoning for not confronting the victim with it. Counsel testified,

Obviously, there was a self-defense claim. However, he, one, would have to take the stand in order to do that, or conversely, I could confront the complaining witness, Ronnie Brannon, and see if he would acknowledge having that dagger or confronting Mr. Brannon with it. You know, sometimes I've had some success with that. And we had the dagger at trial.

But Ronnie Brannon was a terrible witness, just awful. And I don't know if it comes across in the transcript, but he just had a poor demeanor. He didn't speak real well. He was very, very inconsistent. He kept calling me honey.

And so then I thought, well, maybe we could just go with the defense of he-doesn't-know-what-happened-or-who-hit-him.

Additionally, I got cold feet in getting that dagger and putting it in front of him, because it was such a nice dagger. I was worried, because I hadn't spoken with him, that I was opening the door or Pandora's box to something that was going, you know, to be awful, that, oh, yea, my client stole this from me, it was my father's. I don't know. I just had a real bad vibe. They normally if I get - - and we're going to get those bad vibes, I got it, and so I just decided not to do that.

(App. p. 284, l. 9 – p. 285, l. 6). It is a common rule of thumb when performing cross-examination not to ask a question for which you do not already know the answer. This is a valid strategy. See Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992) (“Where, as here, counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” (citing Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992))). Also, it is not unreasonable to change trial strategies based on how witnesses testify. It is also not unreasonable for an attorney with fifteen years' experience with criminal

defense to follow her gut reactions when those responses are based on her experience and professional judgment.

Petitioner also argues Counsel should have asked more in-depth questions of Petitioner's mother. (PWC p. 11). There is no evidence in the record to support this contention. The testimony from Counsel regarding her discussions with the mother is probative evidence supporting the PCR court's findings. Counsel testified she spoke to Petitioner's mother who was in possession of the dagger, but did not know much about it other than Petitioner had given it to her.

Furthermore, Petitioner's contention is based on pure conjecture and speculation. Petitioner must present evidence to show what counsel could have discovered had she more fully investigated. Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 354, 495 S.E.2d 768, 772 (1998) ("Respondent failed to present any evidence of what counsel could have discovered or what other defenses respondent would have requested counsel pursue had counsel more fully prepared for the trial."). Prejudice from trial counsel's failure to interview or call witnesses cannot be shown where the witnesses do not testify at post-conviction relief. Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Bassette v. Thompson, 915 F.2d 932 (4th Cir. 1990). Petitioner's mere speculation as to what a witnesses' testimony would have been cannot, by itself, satisfy his burden of showing prejudice. Clark v. State, 315 S.C. 385, 434 S.E.2d 266 (1993); Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 458 S.E.2d 538 (1995). A petitioner must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness' failure to testify at trial. Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d 807 (1998). Because Petitioner failed to produce the testimony of his mother to show how Counsel failed to ask the right questions of the mother or failed to call her

as a witness, any prejudiced derived from any of Counsel's actions leading to her not testifying is purely speculative. Regardless, the probative evidence in the record support the PCR court's finding counsel was not deficient and Petitioner was not prejudiced.

With regard to the claim Counsel was ineffective for failing to consult an expert witness, again, this allegation is based on speculation. Petitioner failed to produce the testimony of an expert witness to show how Counsel's failure to consult an expert was deficient and prejudiced him. See Clark, 315 S.C. at 388, 434 S.E.2d at 267. (Mere speculation as to what a witnesses' testimony would have been cannot, by itself, satisfy his burden of showing prejudice). Therefore, the PCR court did not err in finding Counsel was not ineffective.

Because the record contains probative evidence supporting the PCR judge's finding that counsel's performance was not deficient and that Petitioner failed to show that but for counsel's alleged deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different, certiorari should be denied.